

Loma Linda University TheScholarsRepository@LLU: Digital Archive of Research, Scholarship & Creative Works

Loma Linda University Electronic Theses, Dissertations & Projects

6-1993

Suppressive Effects of Transforming Factor- β and Interleukin-10 on the Cytolytic Activity of Murine Macrophages and Reversal by Cytokines

Chin-Hung Lin

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsrepository.llu.edu/etd

Part of the Animal Experimentation and Research Commons, Immune System Diseases Commons, Immunopathology Commons, Immunotherapy Commons, Laboratory and Basic Science Research Commons, Microbiology Commons, Oncology Commons, and the Virus Diseases Commons

Recommended Citation

Lin, Chin-Hung, "Suppressive Effects of Transforming Factor-β and Interleukin-10 on the Cytolytic Activity of Murine Macrophages and Reversal by Cytokines" (1993). *Loma Linda University Electronic Theses, Dissertations & Projects.* 1494. https://scholarsrepository.llu.edu/etd/1494

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by TheScholarsRepository@LLU: Digital Archive of Research, Scholarship & Creative Works. It has been accepted for inclusion in Loma Linda University Electronic Theses, Dissertations & Projects by an authorized administrator of TheScholarsRepository@LLU: Digital Archive of Research, Scholarship & Creative Works. For more information, please contact scholarsrepository@llu.edu.

ABSTRACT

Suppressive Effects of Transforming Growth Factor- β and Interleukin-10 on the Cytolytic Activity of Murine Macrophages and Reversal by Cytokines

by

Chin-Hung Lin

In this study, the suppressive effects of transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) and interleukin-10 (IL-10) on peritoneal macrophage killing of H238 target cells and the potential for reversal of the immunosuppressive effect by IL-4 and interferon- γ (IFN- γ) were investigated. The responsiveness of naive and peptone-activated macrophages was compared. The cytolytic activity for tumor cells of these effector cells was measured by percent lysis of ³H-thymidine labeled Herpes simplex virus type 2-transformed tumor cells (H238). After 18-24 hours of incubation with TGF- β or IL-10, the cytolytic activity of macro-

medium alone. The immunosuppressive effect of TGF- β or IL-10 on non-activated macrophages was dose-dependent, with as little as 1 ng/ml TGF- β or 25.0 ng/ml IL-10, suppressing the cytolytic activity. After coincubation with TGF- β (5ng/ml) and IL-4 (200ng/ml) or IFN- γ (400 unit/ml), inhibition in the killing activity of macrophages was reversed by 20-30% when compared to controls incubated with TGF- β alone. IL-4 and IFN- γ both partially reversed the immunosuppressive effects of TGF- β on macrophages. When 10% proteose peptone was injected into mice to activate macrophages, the findings show that $TGF-\beta$ could suppress non-activated macrophage cytotoxicity, but did not inhibit the cytotoxicity of peptone-activated cells. The killing activity of resting macrophages was significantly inhibited by 50 ng/ml of IL-10. When H238 tumor-bearing mice were treated with anti-TGF- β antibody (Ab), the results show that the production of tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), a cytokine known to directly destroy tumors, in H238 tumor-bearing mice without treatment is lower than in H238 tumor-bearing mice with anti-TGF- β Ab treatment.

UNIVERSITY LIBRARY LOMA LINDA. CALIFORNIA

LOMA LINDA UNIVERSITY

Graduate School

SUPPRESSIVE EFFECTS OF TRANSFORMING FACTOR-β AND INTERLEUKIN-10 ON THE CYTOLYTIC ACTIVITY OF MURINE MACROPHAGES AND REVERSAL BY

CYTOKINES

by

Chin-Hung Lin

A Thesis in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science in Microbiology

June 1993

Each person whose signature appears below certifies that this thesis in his/her opinion is adequate, in scope and quality, as a thesis for the degree Master of Science.

Chairman

James D. Kettering, Professor of Microbiology

Daila S. Gridley, Associate Professør of Microbiology and Radiation Medicine

Thanan & Linkhart

Thomas A. Linkhart, Professor of Biochemistry and Research Professor of Pediatrics

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my appreciation and thanks for the efforts of the people who helped make this project a success:

- Dr. James D. Kettering for effectively chairing my committee and providing me with much support and guidance.
- Dr. Daila S. Gridley and Thomas A. Linkhart for consenting to serve on my committee and offering me encouragement and many helpful suggestions.
- Ray Aprecio and Melba Andres for their expert technical advice and assistance.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLES vii
INTRODUCTION 1
MATERIALS AND METHODS
Animals
Macrophages
H238 Tumor Cells
Tumor Induction and Volume
Cytokines
Anti-TGF-β Antibody
The Effect of TGF-β and Anti-TGF-β Antibody on H238 Tumor Volume Assay
Macrophage-Induced H238 Tumor Cytotoxicity Assay
The Reversal Effect by Cytokines Assay
The Effect of TGF-β on TNF-α Production Assay

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	• • • • •	15
RESULTS		17
FIGURES AND TABLES		21
DISCUSSION		35
LITERATURE CITED		43
APPENDIX	• • • • •	50

v

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure

1.	Tumor Volume for Tumor-bearing Mice in Phase I after Treatment of Anti-TGF-β Ab
2.	Tumor Volume for Tumor-bearing Mice in Phase II after Treatment of Anti-TGF-β Ab
3.	The Suppressive Effect of TGF-β on Murine Resting Macrophages
4A.	The Effect of TGF-β on Proteose Peptone-activated Macrophages
4B.	The Effect of TGF-β on Resting Macrophages
5.	The Effect of IL-10 on Resting Macrophages
6.	The Reversal of Inhibitory Effect of TGF-β on Resting Macrophages by IFN-γ or IL-4

LIST OF TABLES

Table

1.	The Effect of TGF- β on TNF- α Production34
2.	Suppressive Effect of TGF-β on Murine Resting Macrophages50
3.	The Effect of TGF-β on Proteose Peptone-activated Macrophages51
4.	The Effect of IL-10 on Murine Resting Macrophages52
5.	The Reversal of Inhibitory Effect of TGF-β on Resting Macrophages by IFN-γ or IL-4

INTRODUCTION

Transforming growth factors (TGF) are a family of peptides that can reversibly induce non-neoplastic cells to express the transformed phenotype as characterized by the acquisition of anchorage-independent growth and by the loss of density-dependent inhibition of growth. Two types of TGF, type- α TGF and type- β TGF, have been identified. In the presence of both TGF- α and TGF- β , normal rat kidney fibroblasts can be stimulated to grow under anchorage independent conditions as demonstrated by their ability to grow in soft agar (Frolik et al. 1984). In addition, a variety of virus-transformed and certain chemically-transformed cells are able to produce TGF- α , which is very similar to epidermal growth factor, and TGF- β in order to maintain the transformed phenotype (Roberts and Frolik, 1983). Since these phenomena suggest a potential relationship between the biological activity of TGF and the events that occur during malignant transformation, it is important to investigate the effects of TGF on those cells of immune system which

function against malignant transformation. Some studies have shown that TGF- α has little effect on lymphocytes. TGF- β is now known to be a powerful immunomodulatory agent.

TGF- β consists of a family of Mr 25-kDa homodimeric proteins secreted by a variety of transformed and nontransformed cells, including platelets, lymphocytes, and macrophages. It is also produced by many other tumor cell types including murine MH134 hepatoma, A-549 and PC-9 human lung adenocarcinoma, human colon tumor, etc. Once activated, this cytokine binds to a unique receptor found on virtually all cells. Several forms of TGF- β have been identified. Some studies have shown that TGF-B1 and TGF-B2 have differential activity in endothelial cells; and TGF- β 2 is much less potent than TGF- β 1 in inhibiting DNA synthesis in aortic endothelial cells (Jennings et al. 1988). Recently, TGF- β has been demonstrated to exert profound inhibitory effects on IL-2-dependent T cell proliferation; IL-1-dependent murine thymocyte proliferation; and B cell proliferation and immunoglobulin secretion (Kehrl et al. 1986).

In addition to TGF- β , interleukin-10 also play a major role in down-regulation of immunologic reactions. IL-10 is 18.5 kDa polypeptides and was originally named cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor (CSIF) due to its ability to inhibit synthesis of IFN- γ and other cytokines in peripheral blood mononuclear cell cultures. It is produced by the Th2 subset of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes (Fiorentino and Bond, 1989), Ly-1⁺ B cells (O'Garra et al. 1990), and mast cells and has been shown to inhibit Th1 cells secretion of certain cytokines including IL-2 and IFN-y which preferentially induce macrophage activation, and acts as a growth stimulatory factor together with IL-2 and IL-4 on mature and immature T cells (Cher et al. 1987). Some studies have also shown that IL-10 reduces H_2O_2 and NO production by macrophages (Gazzinelli et al. 1992). Hence, both TGF- β and IL-10 may exert immunosuppressive effects through regulation of cytokine production.

Interferon- γ is produced by Th1 cells. Some studies have reported that IFN- γ induces class I and class II MHC antigen on many cells, and enhances IgG_{2a} production. Schreiber et al. (1985) also showed that induction of the tumoricidal response required the interaction of IFN- γ with a specific cell surface receptor on macrophages. Interleukin-4 is produced by Th2 cells. It has been shown to promote T cell growth IgG and IgE secretion by B cells, and production of mast cell growth factor. Crawford et al. (1987) reported that IL-4 promotes the differentiation of macrophages into a cytotoxic phenotype for increased tumoricidal activity. Such studies indicate that IL-4 and IFN- γ are important regulators of macrophage function.

Generally, cancer is associated with immunosuppression, but it might not necessarily render the host immune system totally incompetent. The study of factors that affect the immune response of individuals is very complex. Some studies have shown the effects of TGF- β on lymphocyte activity, neutrophil, and natural killer (NK) cell function. Our laboratories have been studying the immunosuppression derived from human B-lymphoblastoid and melanoma cell lines (Repique et al. 1992), and the immune response of BALB/c mice to herpes simplex virus Type-2 transformed syngeneic tumor (H238) (Prabhu Das et al. 1991). This last study by Prabhu Das et al. (1991) has shown that TGF- β appears to be a main inhibitor of immune responses found in the H238 tumor cell line. IL-10 also appears to inhibit cytokine responses. In order to understand better the effect of TGF- β , IL-10 and other cytokines, one purpose of this study was to test the inhibitory effects of TGF- β and IL-10 on murine macrophages. Another purpose of this study was to investigate if cytokines with known immunoenhancing abilities could prevent and/or reverse any inhibition.

In this study, we show that TGF- β and IL-10 inhibit H238 tumor cell killing activity of resting intraperitoneal macrophages. Once macrophages are activated by proteose peptone in vivo, the cytolytic activity of this cytotoxic phenotype macrophage is not suppressed by TGF- β . IL-4 and IFN- γ both partially reversed the immunosuppressive effects of TGF- β on non-activated macrophages.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Male BALB/cByJ mice were obtained from the breeding colony at our animal facility at 10-14 weeks of age. The animals were housed in stainless steel cages with 5 mice/cage in a room controlled for temperature, humidity and a 12-hour light/dark cycle, Some mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratories, Inc. (Bar Harbor, MA).

Effector Cells: Macrophages

The resting macrophages from untreated, non-tumor-bearing BALB/c mice were collected after intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of 8 to 10 ml of Dulbecco's minimum essential medium (DMEM; Irvine Scientific, Santa Ana, CA, USA) that contained 10% fetal calf serum (FCS, HyClone Laboratories, Inc. Logan, UT), 50 ug/ml gentamicin (Sigma Chemical Co, St. Louis, MO, USA), and 100 ug/ml fungizone (E.R. Squibb and Sons, Inc., Princeton, NJ, USA). Peritoneal fluid was withdrawn through

the abdominal wall with a 20 gauge needle and 10 ml syringe and was pooled in 60 x 15mm tissue culture dishes. After 2 hours incubation at 37°C in 5% CO₂, nonadherent peritoneal cells (PC) were removed from the adherent population by repeated gentle washing with DMEM. Macrophages were detached from the dishes by gently using a cell scraper and washed with complete DMEM. After washing, these cells were adjusted to $1 \ge 10^6$ macrophages/ml in complete DMEM. For the inflammatory or activated macrophages, the cells were obtained from mice that had been injected i.p. 48 hours earlier with 10% proteose peptone (DIFCO, Detroit, MI) in a volume of 1 ml/mouse. These cells were also collected, washed, and adjusted to $1 \ge 10^6$ macrophages/ml as described above.

Target Cells: H238 Tumor Cells

The H238 cells were obtained from Dr. A.L. Boyd (Frederick, MD, USA). They were originally developed by Boyd and Orme by exposing BALB/c mouse embryo fibroblasts to UVirradiated HSV-2 (Savage strain). Prior to testing, the cells were passaged several times in DMEM supplemented with 10% defined bovine calf serum (BCS; Hyclone Laboratories, Logan, UT, USA), 100 ug/ml fungizone, and 50 ug/ml gentamicin at 37° C in 5% CO₂.

Tumor Induction and Volume

The H238 tumor cells were harvested during exponential growth (for phase I of study) or at the time of confluent monolayer (for phase II of study) and counted using the trypan blue exclusion method immediately prior to subcutaneous injection of 1×10^6 cells into the right thigh. Although this dose of H238 cells consistently produces progressively growing fibrosarcomas in >95% of mice, exponentially growing cells will produce more rapidly growing tumor than monolayered cells. Tumor development was monitored by taking 3-dimensional measurements with vernier calipers 2-3 times each week. The tumor size was calculated using a formula which approximates the volume of a hemiellipsoid as follows:

Tumor volume(mm³) = $L \times W \times H/2$

where L is length, W is the width, and H is the height of the tumor.

Cytokines

Human recombinant TGF- β 1 and recombinant murine IL-4 were purchased from R & D Systems (Minneapolis, MN, USA). The purity of TGF- β 1 was >95% and it had an ED₅₀ of 110 pg/ml. IL-4 had >97% purity and an ED₅₀ of 1-2 ng/ml. Murine recombinant forms of IFN- γ and IL-10 were obtained from Genzyme (Cambridge, MA). The IFN- γ had >95% purity and specific activity of 1 x 10⁷ units/mg. The purity of IL-10 was >98%; its specific activity was 5 x 10⁵ units/mg.

Anti-TGF-β Antibody

Rabbit polyclonal anti-TGF- β was purchased from R & D Systems, Inc. in lyophilized form. Approximately 10 ug of this antibody will neutralize 250 pg of TGF- β 1 and an equivalent amount of the TGF- β 2 and β 3 isoforms (personal communication, Steve Weiland, Technical consultant, R & D Systems). The antibody was reconstituted with sterile saline, aliquoted, and stored in a conventional freezer until just prior to use.

The Effect of TGF- β and Anti-TGF- β Antibody on H238 Tumor Volume Assay

In the first phase 11 mice were injected with the H238 cells (harvested during exponential growth) and all animal were randomized into 3 groups with 3-7 mice/group: a) no tumor and no treatment control, b) tumor and no treatment, and c) tumor + anti-TGF- β antibody. Treatments were begun 1 day after injection of the tumor cells. The anti-TGF- β antibody was given 9 times over a 10-day period at 100 ng/mouse/day for a total of 900 ng/animal. The mice were euthanized for assay 18 days after H238 cell injection (8 days after the last treatment). In phase II of the study, 15 mice were injected with H238 cells (harvested at the time of confluent monolayer) and randomized into the same groups (5-10 mice/group) as in phase I. Treatments were again initiated 1 day after injection of the tumor cells. The anti-TGF- β antibody was given once per day at 100 ng/mouse/injection for a total of 9 injections over the same

10-day period. The mice were euthanized at 16 days after H238 cell injection (6 days after the end of anti-TGF- β treatment). In both phases, all treatments were injected i.p.

Macrophage-Induced H238 Tumor Cytotoxicity Assay

For the cytotoxicity assay, H238 cells were obtained from trypsin-digested monolayers. These cells (2 to 5×10^6 viable cells/20 ml culture media) were incubated with 0.25 uCi/ml ³H-TdR (sp. act. 5.0 Ci/mmol, ICN Radiochemicals, Irvine, CA) in 75-cm² culture flasks for 18-24 hours. Macrophages (1 x 10^6 cells/ml) were incubated with TGF- β (1.0 ng/ml, 2.5 ng/ml, 5.0 ng/ml, 10 ng/ml and 20 ng/ml) alone or without TGF- β as control, and with IL-10 (0.5 ng/ml, 5.0 ng/ml, 10 ng/ml, 25 ng/ml, and 50 ng/ml) alone or without IL-10 as control for 18-24 hrs. After incubation, H238 cells labeled with ³H-TdR were obtained from trypsin-digested monolayers and washed with DMEM for three times to remove unincorporated label. ³Hlabeled H238 cells were then adjusted to 2×10^{5} cells/ml. One hundred ul of pretreated macrophages and 100 ul of labeled

H238 cells were added to 96-well flat-bottomed microtiter plates $[2 \times 10^4 \text{ target (T) cells/well, } 1 \times 10^5 \text{ effector (E) cells/well]}.$ Effector:target (E:T) cell ratio was 5:1. One hundred ul of labeled H238 cells were incubated with either 100 ul of DMEM as spontaneous release control or 100 ul of SDS as total release control. After 18-24 hours incubation, 100 ul of supernatant was collected from each well and added into each 6 ml mini poly-Q vial tube (Beckman, Irvine, CA); then 3 ml of cytoscint (ICN Biocmedicals Inc.) was added into each vial tube. The cytolytic activity of macrophages was determined by measurement of the ³H-TdR released into culture supernatant, and was expressed as percent as follows:

The Reversal Effect By Cytokines Assay

Macrophages (1 x 10^6 cells/ml) were incubated with IFN- γ (0.4ng/ml, 4.0 ng/ml, 40 ng/ml and 400 ng/ml) or IL-4 (0.2 ng/ml, 2.0 ng/ml, 20 ng/ml and 200 ng/ml) in the presence or

absence of 5.0 ng/ml TGF- β . When two cytokines were used, they were both added simultaneously to the cells. One hundred ul of labeled H238 cells (2 x 10⁵/ml) and 100 ul of pretreated macrophages were added to the 96-well flat-bottomed microtiter trays. One hundred ul of labeled H238 cells were incubated with either 100 ul of DMEM as spontaneous release control or 100 ul of SDS as total release control. After 18-24 hours incubation, the cytolytic activity of macrophage was measured by the ³H-TdR released into culture supernatant and was expressed as a percentage. Supernatant were collected and counted as described above. The formula was the same as that given above.

The Effect of Anti-TGF- β Antibody on TNF- α Production Assay

BALB/c mice were divided into 3 groups. Each group contained 5-10 mice each. Group A consisted of untreated normal mice (negative control); group B was tumor-bearing mice without any treatment (positive control); group C was tumor-bearing mice with anti-TGF- β antibody treatment. Blood was collected from each mouse by cardiac puncture and plasma levels of TNF- α were determined using a standard enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Alquots (50 ul) of each test sample and TNF- α standards (R & D Systems, Inc.) were prepared and dispensed into pre-coated with anti-TNF- α Ab 96-well stripwell microtiter plates and incubated for 2 hours at 37°C and washed 5 times with washing buffer. Pre-diluted conjugate reagent was added at 100 ul/well, the plates were reincubated for 1 hour, and washed again 5 times. OPD substrate reagent was dispensed at 100 ul/well and the color reaction was allowed to develop in the dark at room temperature for 30 min. The reaction was stopped by addition of 100 ul of 2M sulfuric acid and the absorbance was determined in an EIA plate reader at 490 nm. All reagents for this assay were obtained from Endogen, Inc. (Boston, MA).

Statistical Analysis

Results were analyzed by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's honestly significant difference multiple range test at p < 0.05 using STATGRAPHICS 3.0 (STSC, Inc., Rockville, MD).

RESULT

The Effects of TGF- β and Anti-TGF- β Antibody on H238 Tumor Volume

The mean tumor volumes of mice in phase I and phase II are presented in Figures 1 and 2, respectively. All mice, regardless of treatment, developed progressively growing tumors. As expected, more rapidly growing tumor were induced in the animals injected with exponentially growing cells compared to those injected with cells which were harvested while in confluent monolayer. The mice with anti-TGF- β antibody treatment developed growing tumor as rapidly as the mice without anti-TGF- β antibody treatment in both phase I and II.

The Effect of TGF-β on Murine Resting Macrophages

The cytolytic activity of resting peritoneal macrophages from untreated mice was tested by the destruction of H238 tumor cells in the presence or absence of TGF- β . The mean dpm ± S.E. (standard error of the mean) and % killing activity are shown Figure 3 and Table 2 (Appendix). These data show that the immunosuppression of TGF- β on inactivated macrophages is dose-dependent, with as little as 1 ng/ml TGF- β , significantly inhibiting the cytolytic activity of macrophages (p < 0.05).

The Effect of TGF-β on Peptone-Activated Murine Macrophages

Peptone-activated macrophages were obtained from nontumor-bearing mice that were injected 2 days earlier with 10% proteose peptone. The mean dpm \pm S.E. and % killing activity are shown in Figures 4A and 4B and Table 3 (Appendix). The results suggest that once macrophages are activated by proteose peptone in vivo, the cytolytic activity of these active macrophages would not be inhibited by TGF- β even when the concentration of TGF- β is up to 20 ng/ml. The killing activity of primed macrophages is approximately 15% greater than that of resting macrophages in the same age mice.

The Effect of IL-10 on Murine Resting Macrophages

Resting macrophages were incubated with 0.5 ng/ml, 5.0 ng/ml, 10 ng/ml, 25 ng/ml, and 50 ng/ml IL-10 for 18-24 hours.

The result is shown in Figure 5 and Table 4 (Appendix). Our finding shows that the cytolytic activity of macrophages is significantly inhibited by 50 ng/ml of IL-10. The suppressive effect of IL-10 on resting macrophages is also dose-dependent manner.

The Reversal of Inhibitory Effect of TGF- β on Macrophages by IFN- γ or IL-4

Resting macrophages were treated with 5 ng/ml TGF- β and different concentrations of IFN- γ or IL-4 were added simultaneously. Figure 6 and Table 5 (Appendix) show the mean dpm \pm and % killing activity. The results suggest that IFN- γ and IL-4 both partially reversed the immunosuppressive effects of TGF- β on macrophages, but statistical significance was not obtained.

The Effect of TGF- β on TNF- α Production

Tumor-bearing mice were administered i.p. with a total of 900 ng anti-TGF- β 1-10 days after injection with 1 x 10⁶ H238 tumor cells/mouse. Table 1 shows the mean plasma levels of TNF- α from each group of mice. The results show that tumor-bearing mice produce significantly more TNF- α than normal

controls without tumor. Although tumor-bearers treated with anti-TGF- β Ab had slightly higher plasma TNF- α levels than their nontreated counterparts, statistical support was lacking. **Figure 1.** Tumor volumes for mice in phase I after injection of 1 x 10⁶ H238 tumor cells harvested in exponential growth. The mean \pm S.E.M. are shown for 3-7 mice/group. B = no treatment; C = anti-TGF- β . The result shows that i.p. administration of polyclonal anti-TGF- β Ab did not inhibit H238 tumor progression in vivo.



TUMOR VOLUME

Figure 2. Tumor volumes for mice in phase II after injection of $1 \ge 10^6$ H238 tumor cells harvested while in monolayer. The mean \pm S.E.M. are shown for 5-10 mice/group. B = no treatment; C = anti-TGF-β.



macrophages was significantly decreased (p < 0.05) in the presence of TGF- β as indicated by the asterisks. The killing activity was measured by % lysis of ³H-TdR labeled H238 cells. The killing activity of resting **Figure 3.** The suppressive effect of TGF- β on murine resting macrophages. The cells were obtained from 11 week old BALB/c mice and were incubated with 1 ng/ml, 2.5 ng/ml, 5.0 ng/ml, 10.0 ng/ml and 20.0 ng/ml TGF- β , and with medium alone as control for 18-24 hrs before testing their cytolytic activity.



ng/ml TGF- β , and medium alone as control for 18-24 hrs. The killing activity was measured by % lysis of than that of resting macrophages in the same age mice. 'Significantly different from untreated macropha-The effect of TGF-β on proteose peptone-activated macrophages (Fig. 4A). The inflammatopeptone. These active macrophages were incubated with 1.0 ng/ml, 2.5 ng/ml, 5.0 ng/ml, 10 ng/ml, 25.0 killing activity was significantly inhibited by $TGF-\beta$. The cytolytic activity of active macrophages is better ry macrophages were obtained from 9 week-old BALB/c mice injected 2 days earlier with 10% proteose proteose peptone-activated macrophages. The effect of TGF-B on resting macrophages (Fig. 4B). The treatment is the same as that for proteose peptone-activated cells in Fig. 4. The result shows that the ³H-TdR labeled H238 cells. The result shows that TGF-β had little or no suppressive effect on these resting macrophages were obtained from untreated 9 week-old BALB/c mice. The macrophage ges (p < 0.05). Figure 4.







ng/ml, 10.0 ng/ml, 25.0 ng/ml, and 50 ng/ml TGF-ß respectively for 18-24 hrs. The results show that the cytolytic activity of resting macrophages was significantly decreased at the concentration of 50 ng/ml ILuntreated 12 week-old BALB/c mice. The resting macrophages were incubated with 0.5 ng/ml, 5.0 The effect of IL-10 on resting macrophages. Resting macrophages were obtained from 10 as indicated by the asterisk (p < 0.05). Figure 5.





Untreated 0.5 ng/ml IL-10 5.0 ng/ml IL-10 10.0 ng/ml IL-10 25.0 ng/ml IL-10 50.0 ng/ml IL-10

resting macrophages were incubated with 5 ng/ml TGF- β and IFN- γ (400 ng/ml, 40 ng/ml, 4 ng/ml, and 0.4 ng/ml respectively) or IL-4 (200 ng/ml, 20 ng/ml, 2 ng/ml, and 0.2 ng/ml) simultaneously for 18-24 hrs. The killing activity of resting macrophages was measured by % lysis of ³H-TdR labeled H238 cells. The results suggest that IL-4 and IFN-y both could partially reverse the inhibitory effect of TGF- β on Figure 6. The reversal of inhibitory effect of TGF- β on resting macrophages by IFN- γ or IL-4. The macrophages, but statistical support was weak; and the reversal effects of IL-4 and IFN- γ are dose-'Significantly different compared to untreated control (p < 0.05). dependent.



Figure 6

Table 1. The Effects of TGF- β on TNF- α Production

Mice Treatment	Plasma levels of TNF- α	
	Phase I ^a	Phase II ^a
No tumor + no treatment	0.8 ± 0.3^{b}	0.9 ± 0.5
Tumor + no treatment	$39.2 \pm 8.3^{\circ}$	14.1 ± 4.6
Tumor + anti-TGF-β Ab	49.7 ± 5.6°	19.7 ± 8.8

^aPhase I and phase II = 900 ng/ml of anti-TGF- β (100 ng/ml) were administrated i.p. over a 10-day period beginning 1 day after H238 tumor cell injection. The mice were euthanized 18 days after tumor injection.

^bMean ± S.E.; units/ml.

^cSignificantly higher than no tumor control group (p < 0.05).

DISCUSSION

The immunosuppression associated with malignant disease has been correlated with the presence of soluble factors found in serum or other biological fluids of tumor-bearing hosts (Baroni et al. 1988). The work performed and reported from our laboratories has shown that H238 conditioned medium (CM) was able to decrease mouse splenocyte and human mononuclear cell (MC) proliferation in a dose-dependent manner (Prabhu Das et al. 1991). Such results indicated that the effects of TGF- β are not species-specific. Our laboratory has also shown that neutralization of concentrated H238 CM with monoclonal antibody to TGF-B resulted in complete abrogation of suppressive activity in spleen cell lymphoblastogensis (Prabhu Das et al. 1991). These results suggest that TGF- β may be the main inhibitor of immune responses found in the H238 tumor cell line. However, i.p. administration of polyclonal anti-TGF- β antibody did not significantly inhibit H238 tumor progression in vivo (Gridley et al. 1992). These results (Fig. 1 and 2) suggest

that other inhibitors of immune responses might be involved in H238 tumor progression in addition to TGF- β . This treatment with anti-TGF- β antibody, surprisingly, allowed tumors to develop as rapidly as and achieve greater volumes than the untreated H238-injected controls.

This current study reports that TGF- β significantly inhibits resting macrophage cytolytic activity against H238 tumor cells. After 18-24 hours of incubation with 1 ng/ml TGF- β , the cytotoxicity of macrophages was significantly reduced 10-15% compared with cells incubated with medium alone. When macrophages were incubated with 5-20 ng/ml TGF- β , the killing potential was decreased 25-50% compared with macrophages incubated with medium alone (Fig. 3 and 4B). These results suggest that TGF- β significantly inhibits the cytolytic activity of resting macrophages in a concentration-dependent manner. When the cytolytic activity of resting macrophages from 15 week-old mice are compared with that of resting macrophages from 11 week-old and 9 week-old mice, the results indicate that

macrophages from mice of different ages show variable killing activity and different sensitivity to TGF- β . The most interesting aspect to these studies was that TGF- β has little or no inhibitory effect on proteose peptone-activated macrophages (Fig. 4A). This mechanism is still unknown, but it might occur through interactions of other certain cytokines to prevent TGF- β from binding the specific receptors of TGF- β on macrophages when macrophages are activated by proteose peptone in vivo. When macrophages were treated with 5 ng/ml TGF- β and IFN- γ or IL-4 simultaneously, inhibition in the killing activity of resting macrophages was reversed 14-30 % compared with macrophages incubated with TGF- β alone (Fig. 6). These results also show that reversal by IFN- γ or IL-4 is a dose-dependent function.

TGF- β is known to be a powerful immunodulatory agent. It inhibits IL-2-dependent T cell proliferation (Kehrl et al. 1986); IL-1-dependent murine thymocyte proliferation; B cell proliferation and Ig secretion; and IFN- α , but not IL-2 enhancement of NK cell activity (Alain et al. 1986). Some studies have reported

that TGF- β also inhibits production of IFN- γ by peripheral blood mononuclear cells (Chentry et al. 1989), and the generation of nitric oxide (NO) by cytokine-activated macrophages (Nelson et al. 1991). These findings indicate that perhaps TGF- β exerts its effects through blockade of cytokine production or NO production. In the experiment of TNF- α production, the result (Table 1) showed that H238 tumor-bearing mice produce more TNF- α than normal control animals, mice treated with anti-TGF- β produced slightly more TNF- α than H238 tumorbearing mice without any treatment. It is tempting to speculate that TGF- β produced by H238 tumor cells inhibited the secretion of TNF- α . However the data shown in Figures 1 and 2 indicate that anti-TGF- β antibody at the time-dose regimen used, has little or no inhibitory effect on H238 tumor progression in phase I and II in vivo. These results suggest that the suppressive effect of TGF- β on immune responses is complicated; certain other inhibitors from H238 tumor cells might also be involved in suppression of host immune responses, and inhibition of TNF- α production might be one of biological activities of TGF-β.

The mechanisms by which TGF- β suppressed cytolytic activity of resting macrophages is not clearly known, but perhaps one mechanism may be to inhibit production of TNF- α or IFN- γ . Although TNF- α production is not unique to a particular cell type, the major source of this cytokine is the macrophage (Le et al. 1987). The biological activity of TNF- α has been demonstrated by its cytotoxic effects on certain sensitive target cells including the L929 fibroblast-like line and U937 cells in vitro. Studies have also shown that TNF- α can destroy tumors in vivo even in the absence of a direct lytic effect on neoplastic cells in vitro (Palladino et al. 1987). The data in the present (Table 1) shows that in vivo, the production of TNF- α may be suppressed by TGF- β secreted by H238 tumor cells. This suggests that one of the inhibitory effects of TGF- β on macrophage cytolytic activity may be through blocking TNF- α production by macrophages.

In addition to TNF- α the suppressive effects of TGF- β on killing activity of macrophages may be associated with IL-4 or IFN-y production by T cells. The biological activities of IL-4 involve a wide range of cell types and functions that are only partially understood. IL-4 has been shown to promote T-cell growth (Sideras et al. 1988), IgG and IgE secretion by B cells (Snapper et al. 1988), and production of mast cell growth factor. It exerts its biological activity through a specific high affinity receptor expressed by cells of hematopoietic lineage including resting T cells, B cells, mast cells, myeloid progenitors, and macrophages (Park et al. 1987). Recent evidence suggests that IL-4 promotes the differentiation of macrophages into a cytotoxic phenotype (Crawford et al. 1987). IFN- γ not only induces class I and class II MHC antigens on many cells, but it stimulates some B cells, enhances IgG_{2a} production, and inhibits IgG_1 and IgE production. It also inhibits proliferation of Th2 cells and is a potent macrophage activator (Murray et al. 1985). The results shown in this study indicate that the inhibitory effect of TGF- β exerted on macrophages was reversed 14-30% in the

presence of IFN- γ or IL-4 and that TGF- β had no or little suppressive effect on peptone-activated macrophages. These data are consistent with the premise that IL-4 and IFN- γ both can activate macrophages into a cytotoxic phenotype in spite of the presence of TGF- β . They also suggest that another mechanism of suppressive effects of TGF- β on macrophage cytolytic activity may involve a blockade in IFN- γ or IL-4 production.

In addition to TGF- β IL-10, produced by the Th2 subset of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes, Ly-1⁺ B cells, and mast cells, is a newly discovered immunoregulatory cytokine of down-regulation (Sher et al. 1991). Some studies show that the major function of IL-10 appears to be to inhibit production of IFN- γ by T cells, production of IL-1, TNF- α , and IL-6 by LPS-activated macrophages (Fiorentino et al. 1991). Investigators have also reported that IL-10 inhibits parasite killing and NO production by IFN- γ -activated macrophages. These data indicate that IL-10 is a potential inhibitory cytokine. The data in this study, shown in Table 4 (Appendix) and Figure 5, confirm that IL-10 inhibits

macrophage cytotoxic activity. However, significant suppression was seen only at the highest dose of IL-10 used (50 ng/ml), and that the suppressive effect of IL-10 occurs in a dose-dependent manner. The inhibitory effect of IL-10 on macrophage function may be through blockade of TNF- α as well.

In this study, we have shown that IL-10 and TGF- β inhibit the cytolytic activity of resting, but not activated-macrophages against H238 tumor cells and that TGF- β appears to inhibit the production of TNF- α in H238 tumor-bearing mice. If IL-10 and TGF- β both inhibit the secretion of TNF- α , which is endogenous pyrogen, by macrophages, these two cytokines may play an important part in inflammatory responses by regulating macrophage function. TGF- β may be the most important inhibitor derived from H238 tumor cells as well as other tumor cells in order to prevent host immune responses.

LITERATURE CITED

Assoian, R.K., B.E. Fleurdelys, et al. 1987. Expression and secretion of type β transforming growth factor by activated human macrophages. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 84:6020

Belosevic, M., C.E. Davis, M.S. Meltzer, et al. 1988. Regulation of macrophages antimicrobial activities: identification of lymphokines that cooperate with IFN-γ for induction of macrophage resistance to infection. J. Immunol. 141:890-896.

Bogdan, C., J. Paik, Y. Vodovotz and C. Nathan. 1992. Contrasting mechanisms for suppression of macrophage cytokine release by transforming growth factor-beta and interleukin-10. J. Biol. Chem. 267 (32):23301-23308.

Chantry, D., M. Tuner, E. Abney and M. Feldmann. 1989.Modulation of cytokine production by transforming growth factor-β. J. Immunol. 142:4295-4300.

Cher, D.J. and T.R. Mosmann. 1987. Two types of murine helper T clones. II. Delayed-type hypersensitivity is mediated by Th1 clone. J. Immunol. 136:2348-2357.

- Cockfield, S.M., V. Ramassar and P.F. Halloran. 1993. Regulation of IFN-γ and tumor necrosis factor-α expression in vivo. J. Immunol. 150:342-352.
- Crawford, R.M., D.S. Finbloom, J. Ohara, et al. 1987. B cell stimulatory factor-1 (interleikin-4) activites macrophages for increased tumoricidal activity and expression of Ia antigens. J. Immunol. 139:135-141.

- Del-prete, G., M.D. Carli, F. Almerigogna, M.G. Giudizi, R. Biagiotti and S. Romagnani. 1993. Human IL-10 is produced by both type 1 helper and type 2 helper T cell clones and inhibits their antigen-specific proliferation and cytokine production. J. Immunol. 150:353-360.
- Fanger, B.O., L.M. Wakefield and M.B. Sporn. 1986. Structure and properties of the cellular receptor for transforming growth factor type-β. Biochemistry 25:3083.
- Fiorentino, D.F., A. Zlotnik, P. Vieira, T.R. Mosmann, et al. 1991. IL-10 acts on the antigen-presenting cell to inhibit cytokine production by Th1 cells. J. Immunol. 146: 3444-3451.
- Fiorentino, D.F., M.A. Bond and T.R. Mosmann. 1989. Two types of mouse helper T cells IV. Th2 clones secrete a factor that inhibits cytokine production by Th1 clones. J. Exp. Med 170:2081.
- Fiorentino, D.F., A. Zlotnik, T.R. Mosmann, A. O'Garra, et al. 1991. IL-10 inhibits cytokine production by activated macrophages. J. Immunol 147:3815-3822.
- Frolik, C.A., L.L. Dart, C.A. Meters, D.M. Smith and M.B.
 Sporn. 1983. Purification and initial characterization of a type beta transforming growth factor from human placenta. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80 (12): 3676-3680.
- Gazzinelli, R.T., I.P. Oswald, S.L. James and A. Sher. 1992. IL-10 inhibits parasite killing and nitrogen oxide production by IFN-γ activated macrophages. J. Immunol. 148:1792-1796.
- Gridley, D.S., S. Sura, C.H. Lin, J.R. Uhm and J.D. Kettering. 1993. Effect of anti-transforming

growth factor- β antibody and interleukin-2 in tumorbearing mice. Cancer Biotherapy. In press.

- Gridley, D.S., M.R. Prabhu Das, Benjamin H.S. Lau and J.D. Kettering. 1992. Modulation of lymphoproliferation and oxidative burst by herpes-transformed tumors. Molec. Biother. 3:88-94.
- Isabelle P., R. Oswald, A.S. Gazzinelli, et al. 1992. IL-10 synergies with IL-4 and transforming growth factor-β to inhibit macrophage cytotoxic activity. J. Immunol. 148: 3578-3582.
- Jennings, J.C., S. Mohan, T.A. Linhkart, et al. 1988. Comparison of biological action of TGF-β1 and TGF-β2: Differential activity in endothelial cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 137:167-172.
- Kehrl, J.H., A.B. Roberts, et al. 1986. Transforming growth factor B is an important immunomodulatory protein for human lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 137:3855-3860.
- Kehrl, J.H., L.M. Wakefield, S. Jakowlew, et al. 1986. Production of TGF- β by human T lymphocytes and its potential role in regulation of T cells growth. J. Exp. Med. 163:1037.
- Le, J. and J. Vilcek. 1987. Tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-1:cytokines with multiple overlapping biological activities. Lab. Invest. 56:234-248.
- Moore, K.W., P. Virira, D.F. Fiorentino, M.L. Trounstine, T.A. Khan and T.R. Mosmann. 1990. Homology of cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor(IL-10) with Epstein-Barr virus gene BCRFI. Science 248:1230.
- Mosmann, T.R. and K.W. Moore. 1991. The role of IL-10 in crossregulation of Th1 and Th2 responses. In Immuno-

parasitology Today. C. Ash, and R.B. Gallagher, eds. Elsevier Trade Journals, Cambridge, pp A49-A53.

- Murray, H.W., G.L. Spitalny and C.F. Nathan. 1985. Activation of mouse peritoneal macrophages in vitro and vivo by interferon-y. J. Immunol. 134:1619-1622.
- Nelson, B.J., P.R., S.J. Green, and A.N. Carol. 1991. Differential susceptibility of activated macrophage cytotoxic effector reactions to the suppressive effects of transforming growth factor-β. J. Immunol. 146: 1849-1857.
- O'Garra, A., G. Stapleton, V. Dhar, M. Pearce, et al. 1990. Production of known and novel cytokines by mouse B lymphomas and normal ly-1⁺ B cells. Int. Immunol. 2:821
- Palladino, M.A., M.F. Shalaby, S.M. Kramer, et al. 1987. Characterization of the antitumor activities of human tumor necrosis factor-A and the comparison with other cytokines: induction of tumor specific immunity. J. Immunol. 138:4023-4032.
- Park, L.S., F. Friend, K. Grabstein and D.L. Urdal. 1987. Characterization of the high affinity cell-surface receptor for murine B-cell stimulatory factor 1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 84(6):1669-1673.
- Paul, W.E. and J. Ohara. 1987. B cell stimulatory factor 1/interleukin 4. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 5:429-459.
- Peace, D.J., D.E. Kern, K.R. Schultz, P.D. Greenberg and M.A. Cheever. 1988. IL-4-induced lymphokineactivated killer cells: lytic activity is mediated by phenotypically distinct NK-like and T-cell like large granular lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 140(10):3679-3685.

- Peter, P.M., J.R. Ortaldo, M.R. Shalaby, et al. 1986. Natural killer-sensitive targets stimulate production of TNF- α but not TNF- β by highly purified human peripheral blood large granular lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 137: 2592-2598.
- Philip, R. and L. Epstein. 1986. Tumor necrosis factor as immunomodulator and mediator of monocyte cytolyticity induced by itself, γ -interferon and interleukin-1. Nature 323:86.
- Prabhu Das, M.R., D.S. Gridley and J.D. Kettering. 1991. Suppression of immune responses by herpes virus ty\pe 2-transformed murine tumor cells. Immunol. Letters, 30:37-46.
- Repique, C.J., J.D. Kettering, and D.S. Gridley.
 1992. Immunosuppression derived from human
 B-lymphoblastoid and melanoma cell lines. Cancer
 Investigation. 10(3),201-208.
- Rook, A.H., J.H. Kehrl, et al. 1986. Effects of transforming growth factor-β on the functions of natural killer cells: Depressed cytolytic activity and blunting of interferon responsiveness. J. Immunol. 136:3916-3920
- Roberts, A.B., M.A. Anzano, C.A. Meyers, J. Wideman, R. Blacher, et al. 1983. Purification and properties of a type beta transforming growth factor from bovine kidney. Biochemistry 22(25):5692-5698.
- Romeo, D.S. and S.B. Mizel. 1989. Partial purification of an immunosuppressive protein from a human tumor cell line and analysis of its relationship to TGF-β. Cell. Immunol. 122:483-492.
- Schreiber, R.D., L.J. Hicks, A. Celada, et al. 1985. Monoclonal antibodies to murine γ-interferon which differentially

modulate macrophages activation and antiviral activity. J. Immunol. 134:1609-1618.

- Shepard, H.M. and G.D. Lewis. 1988. Resistance of tumor cells to tumor necrosis factor. J. Clin. Immunol. 8:333-341.
- Sher, A., D. Fiorentino, P. Caspar, E. Pearce and T.R. Mosmann. 1991. Production of IL-10 by CD4⁺ T lymphocytes correlates with the down-regulation of Th1 cytokine synthesis in helminth infection. J. Immunol. 147:2713.
- Sideras, P., K. Funa, I. Zaleberg-Quintana, K.G. Xanthopoulos, et al. 1988. Analysis by in situ hybridization of cells expressing mRNA for interleukin-4 in the developing thymus and in peripheral lymphocytes from mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 57(1):364-372.
- Snapper, C.M., P.V. Mornbeck, U. Atasoy, G.M.B. Pereira and W.B. Paul. 1988. Interleukin-4 induces membrane Thy-1 expression on normal murine B cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci USA. 85:6107-6111.
- Stiut, R.D. and K.D. Bottomly. 1989. Antigen-specific activa tion of effector macrophages by IFN-γ-producing T cell clones. Failure of IL-4-producing T cell clones to activate effector function on macrophages. J. Immunol. 142:760-765.
- Te-Velde A.A., Rene de Wall Malefijt, R.J.F. Huijbens, et al. 1992. IL-10 stimulates monocyte FcγR surface expression and cytotoxic activity: Distinct regulation of antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity by IFN-γ, IL-4, and IL-10. J. Immunol. 149:4048-4052.
- Uhm, J.R., J.D. Kettering and D.S. Gridley. 1993. Modulation of transforming growth factor-β1 effects

by cytokines. 1993. Immunological Investigations. In Press.

- Wahl, S.M., D.A. Hunt, H.L., et al. 1988. Transforming growth factor beta is a potent immunosuppressive agent that inhibit IL-1 dependent lymphocyte proliferation. J. Immunol. 140:3026-3032.
- Wahl, S.M., D.A. Hunt, L.M., et al. 1987. Transforming growth factor type β induces monocyte chemotaxis and growth factor production. Proc. Natl.Acad. Sci. USA. 84:5788.

APPENDIX

^a Macrophage Treatment	Mean dpm ± S.E ^b . (X 1000)	% Killing ^c
Untreated (Control)	134.3 ± 8.3	76.0%
1.0 ng/ml TGF-β	112.8 ± 4.6*	62.6%
2.5 ng/ml TGF-β	$106.2 \pm 3.1^*$	58.5%
5.0 ng/ml TGF-β	$93.5 \pm 2.0^*$	50.6%
10.0 ng/ml TGF-β	$89.8 \pm 1.9^{*}$	48.3%
20.0 ng/ml TGF-β	$100.3 \pm 6.3^{\circ}$	54.8%

Table 2. Suppressive effect of TGF- β on Murine Resting Macrophages

^aMacrophages were obtained from 11 week-old mice.

^bS.E. = standard error of the mean.

^cKilling activity of macrophage was measured by % lysis of ³H-thymidine labeled H238 cells.

*Significantly different from control macrophages (p < 0.05).

Macrophage	^a Active Macrophage		^b Resting Macrophage	
Treatment	Mean dpm ± S.E ^c . (X 1000)	% Killing ^d	Mean dpm ± S.E. (X 1000)	% Killing
Untreated(Control)	238.2 ± 4.2	44.3%	187.2 ± 2.3	29.4%
1.0 ng/ml TGF-β	230.2 ± 4.6	42.0%	158.5 ± 6.4	21.0%
2.5 ng/ml TGF-β	233.1 ± 4.4	42.9%	161.2 ± 4.1	21.8%
5.0 ng/ml TGF-β	226.9 ± 6.9	41.0%	129.1 ± 4.1*	12.3%
10.0 ng/ml TGF-β	229.1 ± 3.5	41.7%	$122.0 \pm 4.2^{*}$	10.3%
20.0 ng/ml TGF-β	223.2 ± 6.6	40.0%	115.3 ± 3.1	8.3%

Table 3.Effect of TGF- β on Peptone-Activated Macrophages

^aActive macrophages were obtained from 9 week-old mice that were injected 2 days earlier with 10 % proteose peptone.

^bResting macrophages were obtained from untreated 9 week-old mice.

 $^{c}S.E. =$ standard error of the mean.

^dKilling activity of macrophages was measured by % lysis of ³H-TdR labeled H238 cells.

*Significantly different from control (p < 0.05).

Table 4.The Effects of IL-10 on Murine Macrophages

^a Macrophage Treatment	Mean dpm ± S.E. ^b	% Killing
Untreated (Control)	167.3 ± 18.5	62.0%
0.5 ng/ml IL-10	172.7 ± 5.0	65.1%
5.0 ng/ml IL-10	167.7 ± 13.2	62.2%
10.0 ng/ml IL-10	159.9 ± 8.3	57.8%
25.0 ng/ml IL-10	151.2 ± 8.9	52.8%
50.0 ng/ml IL-10	$121.8 \pm 0.2^{*}$	35.9%

^aMacrophages were obtained from untreated 12 week-old mice.

^bS.E. = standard error of the mean.

 $^{\rm c}$ Killing activity of macrophages was measured by % lysis of $^{\rm 3}$ H-TdR labeled H238 cells.

*Significantly different from control value (p < 0.05).

^a Macrophage Treatment	Mean dpm ± S.E. ^c (X 1000)	% Killing ^d
Untreated ^b TGF- β control ^b TGF- β + 400 ng/ml IFN- γ ^b TGF- β + 40 ng/ml IFN- γ ^b TGF- β + 4 ng/ml IFN- γ ^b TGF- β + 0.4 ng/ml IFN- γ ^b TGF- β + 200 ng/ml IL-4 ^b TGF- β + 20 ng/ml IL-4 ^b TGF- β + 2 ng/ml IL-4 ^b TGF- β + 0.2 ng/ml IL-4	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	100.0% $50.6%$ $82.3%$ $72.6%$ $62.3%$ $64.0%$ $75.0%$ $70.9%$ $73.5%$ $67.8%$

Table 5. The Reversal of Inhibitory Effect of TGF- β on Macrophages by IFN- γ or IL-4

^aMacrophages were obtained from untreated 15 week-old mice.

^bTGF- β concentration was 5.0 ng/ml

^cS.E. = standard error of the mean

^dKilling activity of macrophage was measured by % lysis of ³H-TdR labeled H238 tumor cells